IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Case No. 22-ICA-173 03:11PM EST (Appeal from Marshall Co. Circuit Court Case No. 19-C-116 (J. Cramer))

ICA EFiled: Jan 12 2023

MARK SCAFELLA,

PETITIONER,

VS.

ERIE INSURANCE GROUP, and STANLEY GEHO, JR.,

RESPONDENTS.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

John R. Angotti, Esquire (#5068) David J. Straface, Esquire (#3634) Chad C. Groome, Esquire (#9810) ANGOTTI & STRAFACE, L.C. 274 Spruce Street Morgantown, WV 26505 (304) 292-4381 – P (304) 292-7775 – F johnangotti@angottistrafacelaw.com djstraface@angottistrafacelaw.com chadgroome@angottistrafacelaw.com Of Counsel for Petitioner

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment on *Count I* of the *Complaint* in favor of the Respondents and Defendants below, Erie Insurance Company and Stanley Geho, as the factual record demonstrates that there exists a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Respondent, Erie, waived application of the claimed "business purpose" exclusion contained within the subject policy's "Other Structures" coverage.
- 2. The Circuit Court abused its discretion and committed clear error when it held that the "business purpose" exclusion contained within the "Other Structures" coverage in the subject policy precluded coverage for the fire damage to the Petitioner's barn insofar as it found that the same was "used in whole or in part for 'business' purposes[.]"
- The Circuit Court erred when it granted summary judgment on *Count I* of the *Complaint* finding that the Petitioner's claims were not covered by the plain terms of the "claw-back" provision contained within the "business purpose" exclusion in the subject policy's "Other Structures" coverage.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL POSTURE

The instant case presents a dispute and declaratory judgement action over the applicability of an exclusion contained in an "Other Structures" coverage contained within an Erie Insurance Company homeowners' policy.

Relevant Factual Summary

The Petitioner, Mark Scafella, is a resident of Terra Alta, Preston County, West Virginia. (*Appx. p. 0238*). In 2017, Mr. Scafella purchased a cattle farm in a beautiful location outside of Terra Alta located at 401 Aurora Avenue called "Country Chapel Farm." (*Id.*) "Country Chapel Farm" contained significant acreage, a residential home, a large barn, a well house, several sheds or smaller barns (one of which served as a tractor museum), and a small country church. (*Appx. p. 0239*). Mr. Scafella is a hard-working and busy man with a strong entrepreneurial spirit. He operated a contracting company out of his home called Marksman Contracting, LLC. (*Appx. p. 0240*). He was also in the business of commercial beef farming. (*Appx. pp. 0239-0249*).

Mr. Scafella purchased the 401 Aurora Avenue because it fulfilled multiple needs and presented an additional significant business opportunity. The property was ideal for Mr. Scafella's beef farming operations. It had vast pastures and a large barn, amongst other warehouses, which were perfect for continuing these operations. Mr. Scafella was so eager to farm the property that he leased the farm from the seller while he was brokering the deal on the purchase of the property so that he could place his 60+ heads of cattle on the same immediately. (*Appx. p. 0239*).

Mr. Scafella saw an opportunity in the 401 Aurora Avenue property beyond just providing him with a primary residence, a cattle farm, and a place to run his contracting business. Specifically, Mr. Scafella believed that the farm would be an ideal, one-stop destination for couples wanting to have a rural destination wedding. (*See Id.*). The "Country Chapel Farm" property has most of the implements necessary for such an operation already built in, including vast amounts of space, a home that could be used as a bed-and-breakfast, and a quaint little church on the premises. (*See Id.*). All the property needed to make this idea a reality was a hall or food service area for the wedding receptions. (*See Id.*).

While Mr. Scafella was brokering a deal for the purchase of the 401 Aurora Avenue farm, he contacted Respondent, Erie Insurance Company, to inquire about obtaining insurance on this property. (*See gen. Appx. pp. 0198-0208*). Mr. Scafella had done substantial business with Erie in the past, and it provided him with numerous insurance coverages already, including, but not limited to, commercial general liability coverage, workers' compensation coverage, and auto fleet coverage for his company. (*See App. pp. 0227-0234, 0350-0360*). Mr. Scafella reached out to Erie's agent, Kendra T. Simpson of American Insurance Center regarding insurance. (*See gen. Appx. pp. 0198-0208, 0239*).

Mr. Scafella discussed the coverages he needed. During the course of those conversations, Mr. Scafella advised Respondent, Erie Insurance Company, and its agent Ms. Simpson, of his intent to farm the property and raise beef cattle on the same. (Appx. pp. 0198-0199, 0239, 0276, 0302). Ms. Simpson clearly communicated this fact to Respondent, Erie Insurance Company, as Erie to issue a quote to her for an ErieSecure Home policy coverages for "Farm Property (Special)," for coverage upon the frame barn at issue in this matter, and for blanket coverage for livestock. (Appx. pp. 0198-0199). Oddly, however, there is no evidence contained in the files of Erie or Ms. Simpson demonstrating that a copy of this quote was provided to Mr. Scafella. It is almost as if Ms. Simpson recognized that the premium quote was not competitive and that she was afraid to communicate it to Mr. Scafella out of fear that he would reject it or take all of his business elsewhere, including the multiple other policies he had purchased through her and Erie. Instead, Ms. Simpson obtained a second quote from Erie. (Appx. p. 0201). This time the premium quote was lower, but it still contained coverage for farm equipment and other structures. (See Id.). The quote was accepted by Mr. Scafella and Erie issued the policy. (Appx. pp. 0202-0206). When Respondent, Erie Insurance Company, issued this policy it was aware that Mr. Scafella would be operating a farm on the premises and, also, that he would be running his Marksman Contracting, LLC business on the premises. (See App. pp. 0227-0234, 0350-0360). In fact, documents secured from Erie in the course of discovery revealed that it changed the address for the Marksman Contracting, LLC operations on the other policies it issued to Mr. Scafella from his old address to 401 Aurora Avenue. (See Id.).

Furthermore, following his moving the beef cattle to the 401 Aurora Avenue farm, a representative of defendant, Erie Insurance Company, from Mueller Reports performed an inspection and walk-through of the property for insurance services around the time of the closing

on the property. (*Appx. pp. 0240, 0208-0218*). At the time this inspection was completed, Mr. Scafella was actively farming the subject property and the same would have been apparent to any reasonable person visiting the property who would have had to park near the barn and hear and see the cattle in the vicinity. (*Appx., p. 0240*). Accordingly, at all times material and relevant, defendant, Erie Insurance Company, and/or its representatives were or should have been fully aware that Mr. Scafella was raising and intended to raise commercial cattle on the property. Likewise, defendant, Erie Insurance Company, further knew that Mr. Scafella's contracting business, Marksman Contracting, LLC, operated out of the 401 Aurora Avenue property. (*See App. pp. 0227-0234,0350-0360*). Nevertheless, defendant, Erie Insurance Company, knowingly accepted the risks of insurance despite farming business being conducted about the property.

Petitioner, Mark Scafella, was of the reasonable belief and expectation that he had coverage on his property for fire loss, including his large barn, at all times material and relevant. (*Appx. p.* 0240). Ultimately, Mr. Scafella closed on the 401 Aurora Avenue farm believing that he was fully insured from fire loss. (*See Id.*). Mr. Scafella began taking his cattle to slaughter and selling a portion of the fruits of his farming operation out of a structure on the farm known as the "milk house," sometimes also referred to as the "well house." (*Appx. p. 0240*). Mr. Scafella began calling this operation "Olivia's, LLC." (*See Id.*) The aforementioned "milk house" sits adjacent to the large barn on the property that is at issue in this matter. (*See Id., see also Appx. pp. 0219-0226*, 0240-0241).

Also, after moving in, Mr. Scafella began using free time to work on renovating the lower level of the large barn into a dining and/or catering hall. (*Appx. p. 0241*). As previously indicated, the absence of a reception hall on the property was the only thing that prevented "Country Chapel Farm" from having all the means necessary to operate as a one-stop, rural wedding destination.

4

(See Id.). Mr. Scafella spent countless hours and months tediously remodeling the lower level of the barn into a restaurant-style layout. (See Id.). He built a kitchen, a prep room, a server station, bathrooms, and a bar, all by his own hand. Mr. Scafella ultimately intended to make the restaurant/dining hall a farm-to-table operation serving beef from the property and locally-sourced foods. (See Id.). He intended to call the forthcoming restaurant, "Sophie's Serendipity, LLC."

Prior to the fire loss, however, the lower level of the barn was nothing more than a shell of a restaurant. (*Appx., p. 0242*). The restaurant was never operational. (*See Id.*). It also never served a single meal. (*See Id.*). The lower level of the barn sat idle waiting for completion and for Mr. Scafella to obtain the necessary licensures and permits so the same could be used in the future as a restaurant or catering hall. Not only was the restaurant not functional, but Mr. Scafella did not operate any business out of the barn at all times material and relevant. (*See Id.*). Instead, the barn was used to primarily to store Mr. Scafella's personal property used for his contracting business, his farming operations, and held his restaurant equipment and furniture for his future hall. (*See Id.*). It should be noted, despite the Respondent's contentions otherwise, Mr. Scafella contacted Respondent's agent, Kendra T. Simpson, about these operations and his need for insurance coverage on the same. (*See Id.*). As such, the Respondent was aware of Mr. Scafella's plans for the lower level of the barn.

On February 2, 2019, Mr. Scafella suffered a major fire loss in the large barn at the 401 Aurora Avenue property. (*See Id.*). The cause of the loss was not from any business operation on the premises, but was electrical, and is not in dispute. (*Appx. p. 0242*). Mr. Scafella had installed an electrical outlet on the lower level of his barn that was faulty and which led to the fire. The fire caused significant structural damage to the large barn and the loss of numerous items of Mr. Scafella's personal business property. However, the "milk house" where Mr. Scafella sold his beef through the Olivia's, LLC, storefront was not affected by the fire and the origin of the fire had nothing to do with its operations. (*Appx. p. 0242*). Mr. Scafella was devastated considering the amount of hard work he put into his property, but was confident that he took the necessary precautions in securing insurance to protect his investments.

Mr. Scafella presented his fire loss claim to Respondent, Erie Insurance Company, for payment. Erie initially provided coverage to Mr. Scafella for his personal property located in the large barn to the tune of approximately \$72,000.00. (*Appx. p. 0243*). However, when it came to the structure of the large barn, Respondent, Erie Insurance Company, denied Mr. Scafella's claims. Respondent, Erie Insurance Company, claimed that Mr. Scafella was operating a business out of the premises, that it was unaware of the same, and that, as a result, his claim was excluded from coverage under the "Other Structures" coverage contained in his policy. (*Appx. pp. 0059-0174*).

The "Other Structures" coverage in the policy, the policy states:

"We" will pay for loss to :

- other structures at the "residence premises" separated from the dwelling, including garages, fences, shelters, tool sheds or carports. Structures connected to the dwelling by only a fence, utility line or similar connection are considered to be other structures.
- construction material at the "residence premises" for use in connection with "your" other structures.

However, the policy goes on to indicate that:

"We" do not pay for loss to structures:

- used in whole or in part for "business" purposes (except rental or holding for rental of structures used for private garage purposes); or
- 2. used to store "business" property. However, if the "business" property is solely owned by "anyone we protect," "we" do provide coverage for the structure. The "business" property may not include gaseous or liquid fuel, unless the fuel is in a fuel tank that is permanently installed in a vehicle or craft which is parked or stored in the structure.

(Appx. p. 0021).

Mr. Scafella was upset that Erie claimed that it was unaware of his business operations on

the property when he had told it from day one of his intentions to run a beef farm on the same and

run his contracting business out of the property. Respondent, Erie Insurance Company, asserted that he was selling beef out of the fire-damaged barn and that his claim was properly denied. However, the sale of beef was out of the "milk house." (*See gen.,Appx. pp. 0059-0174, 0173-0174*).

Respondent, Erie Insurance Company's coverage determination was wrong. (*Appx., pp. 0173-0174*) It not only knew Mr. Scafella was running businesses on the premises when it issued the subject policy, but it failed to recognize that Mr. Scafella was not running any business out of the barn. It was attempting to conflate the "milk house" structure with that of the large barn.

This was an unfair characterization. Granted, the "milk house" sits adjacent to the barn. However, the "milk house" has its own foundation. (*Appx., pp. 0219-0226, 0240-0241*). The barn is made of stone, while the "milk house" has separate block walls. (*See Id.*). Likewise, the "milk house" has its own separate roof. (*See Id.*). The "milk house" has its own four walls and does not rely upon a common wall with the barn for its fourth wall or for support, despite sitting adjacent to the barn. (*See Id.*). The "milk house" has its own electrical hook-ups, separate and apart from that of the barn. (*See Id.*). The "milk house" has its own water supply, separate and apart from that of the barn. (*See Id.*). The "milk house" runs on the farm's well water, while the barn runs on city water. (*See Id.*). The "milk house" has its own entrance and exit, separate and apart from the barn. (*See Id.*). The "milk house" has its own entrance and exit, separate and apart from the barn. (*See Id.*). The "milk house" has its own entrance and exit, separate and apart from the barn. (*See Id.*). For all intents and purposes, the "milk house" where Mr. Scafella sells farmraised beef through Olivia's, LLC, is a separate structure from the barn. (*See Id.*). In fact, if the large barn were razed, it would in no manner affect the "milk house" structure. Likewise, if the "milk house" were razed, it would in no manner impact the structure of the barn. (*See Id.*).

As a result of Respondent, Erie Insurance Company's decision, Mr. Scafella was forced to make all of the structural repairs to the barn out of his own pocket and on his own, which he did.

7

(*Appx. p. 0243*). Frustrated by the decision, Mr. Scafella filed suit against Respondent, Erie Insurance Company, and its acting adjuster, Stanley Geho¹, seeking declaratory judgment on the issue of coverage for the barn structure (Count I), for violations of the UTPA and/or common law bad faith (Count II), and for breach of contract (Count III). (*See Appx. p. 0001*).

Relevant Procedural History

On or about March 11, 2021, the Respondents, Erie Insurance Company and Stanley Geho, filed a *Motion for Summary Judgment on Count 1 of Plaintiff's Complaint for Declaratory Judgment*, pursuant to **W.Va**, **R. Civ. P. 56**. (*Appx. pp. 0059-0174*). Therein, Respondents asserted that the exclusionary language contained in the "Other Structures" coverage referenced hereinbefore excluded the Petitioner's claims from coverage. The matter was eventually placed on a briefing schedule (*Appx. pp. 0175-0176*), and the Petitioner filed a timely answer to the same, asserting therein that the provision was inapplicable, that Mr. Scafella's claims fell within the scope of the "claw-back" provision in the exclusion, and that the Respondents had waived the application of the exclusion by issuing the subject policy with knowledge of Mr. Scafella's business activities on the premises (*Appx., 0177-0235*).

The matter was fully brief and set for hearing on January 6, 2022. (*Appx., pp. 0255-0258*). By *Order* dated January 18, 2022, the Circuit Court found that "the milk house and the barn are one structure." (*Appx. pp. 0257-0258*). The Circuit Court provided no analysis at how it arrived at this determination, nor did it cite legal authority supporting its findings. (*See Id.*). That said, the Circuit Court decided that additional discovery was warranted on the issue of the application of the exception to the business exclusion in the subject coverage. (*See Id.*). The Court permitted additional discovery on the same through May 13, 2022 and provided a supplemental briefing

¹ Underlying defendant, Stanley Geho, is a resident of Marshall County, West Virginia, hence the action being filed in the Circuit Court of Marshall County.

deadline of June 13, 2022. (See Id.). The Circuit Court's Order of January 18, 2022, did not address Mr. Scafella's arguments regarding the application of the waiver doctrine. (See Id.).

Additional discovery was completed. Both parties submitted timely briefs in accordance with the Circuit Court's *Order* of January 18, 2022. (*Appx. pp. 0259-0281, 0395*). However, Respondents, Erie Insurance Company and Geho, filed a motion to strike Mr. Scafella's supplemental briefing, in part, as they claimed that the same went beyond the scope of the Circuit Court's *Order* of January 18, 2022 insofar as it presented argument on the doctrine of waiver. (*Appx. pp. 0282-0288*). The Respondents asserted that the *Order* limited briefing to issues surrounding the application of the application of the exception to the business exclusion and its "claw-back" exception. (*See Id.*). The Petitioner asserted that the issue of waiver went directly to the issues of the application of the exclusion and was left unresolved by the Circuit Court. By emails dated July 1-5, 2022, the Circuit Court law clerk, Angela Cisar, advised that the Court believed the supplemental briefing went beyond the issues set forth in the January 18, 2022 *Order*. However, instead of striking those arguments, the Circuit Court permitted additional briefing on the issue. (*Appx., pp. 0289-0291*).

After additional supplemental briefing was provided by the parties on the issue of waiver, the Circuit Court contacted the parties by email from its law clerk, Ms. Cisar, and advised that it was inclined to grant the Respondents' *Motion*. It instructed the Respondents, Erie Insurance Company and Geho, to prepare an *Order* granting the same. The Respondents complied with the Circuit Court's request, and prepared the *Order Granting Summary Judgment in Favor of Defendants on Count I of Plaintiff's Complaint*, which was entered by the Circuit Court. (*Appx. pp. 0367-0372*). The *Order* provided little analysis of the waiver issue at bar, and made sweeping factual conclusions regarding material disputed facts. (*See Id.*). Despite this, the *Order* was

entered on September 12, 2022. (See Id.). On October 14, 2022, the Circuit Court entered a Rule 54(b) Order finding that its January 18 and September 12, 2022 Orders should be treated as final appealable orders of the Court. (Appx. p. 0373). It is from this series of Orders that this appeal arises.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner, Mark Scafella, asserts that the instant matter is one that is ripe for oral argument pursuant to **W.Va. R. App. P. 20(a)**. **Rule 20(a)** expressly provides, in relevant part, that "...[c]ases suitable for Rule 20 argument include, but are not limited to: (1) cases involving issues of first impression; (2) cases involving issues of fundamental public importance; (3) cases involving constitutional questions regarding the validity of a statute, municipal ordinance, or court ruling; and (4) cases involving inconsistencies or conflicts among the decisions of lower tribunals." The instant matter regards matters of first impression regarding the application of a "business purpose" exclusion contained in the "Other Structures" coverage of a homeowners policy of insurance. It further presents a matter of first impression as to the legal definition of a structure or what constitutes separate structures for the purposes of insurance coverage in this State. As such, this matter should be presented by way of **Rule 20** argument.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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