IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA DOCKET NO. 22-ICA-173

MARK SCAFELLA,

ICA EFiled: Feb 27 2023 03:26PM EST Transaction ID 69230414

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner,

v.

ERIE INSURANCE COMPANY, and STANLEY GEHO

Defendants Below, Respondents.

On Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Marshall County (Civil Action No. 19-C-116)

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ERIE INSURANCE COMPANY AND STANLEY GEHO

Melanie Morgan Norris (WV Bar # 8581) STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC The Fort Henry Building 1324 Chapline Street, Suite 100 PO Box 751 Wheeling, WV 26003 (304) 231-0460 melanie.norris@steptoe-johnson.com

Counsel for Respondents Erie Insurance Company and Stanley Geho

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

Mr. Scafella's fiancé further confirmed that the contents in the barn were Mr. Scafella's

personal belongings:

Q: Um, as far as let's say the personal property that was damaged in the fire is that personal property owned by both of you?

A: It's personal property, um, owned by Mark.

Q: Okay. So the --- uh, the stuff in the building or in the barn is --- is Mark's alone?

- A: Um, yeah.
- Q: Okay.

A: Well I –I had a few items in there. But, uh, most of it would've been Mark's personal – **personal belongings**.

16166885v1

A.R. 0166-67 (emphasis added).

Mr. Geho determined that the contents claim was properly payable under the personal property coverage available under the Policy and Erie paid Mr. Scafella a total of \$67,640.80 for his contents claim. The two checks issued to Mr. Scafella clearly demonstrate that payment was made pursuant to a "personal property settlement." A.R. 4011-12.

The payment of Mr. Scafella's contents claim under the personal property coverage portion of the Policy is in no way "incongruous" with Erie's determination that the barn structure itself was excluded from coverage based on the business pursuits exclusion. In fact, Erie's payment of the contents claim illustrates the fallacy of Mr. Scafella's argument herein. The personal property coverage provides a broad insuring agreement:

OUR PROMISE – Personal Property Coverage

"We" will pay for loss to:

 personal property owned or used by "anyone we protect" anywhere in the world.

A.R. 0116.

Had the contents in the barn been deemed "business property," as advocated by Mr. Scafella for the first time in this lawsuit, the following limitation on contents coverage could have applied:

"We" do not pay for loss to:

 except as provided under SPECIAL LIMITS - Personal Property Coverage, property pertaining to a "business" conducted away from the "residence premises," unless at the time of loss such property is on the "residence premises." However, "we" do not cover such property on the

"residence premises" while it is stored, held as samples, or held for sale or delivery after sale.

A.R. 0116-117. The special limits for business property is significantly less than the amount Mr.

Scafella received for his contents claim:

SPECIAL LIMITS - Personal Property Coverage

Limitations apply to the following personal property. These limits do not increase the amount of insurance under Personal Property Coverage:

Total Amount Of	Description Of Personal Property
Insurance In Any	Subject To Limitations
One Loss	a second second second

\$2,500

Property on the "residence premises" used primarily for "business" purposes conducted on the "residence premises," including property in storage, held as samples, or held for sale or delivery after sale

A.R. 0117.

Based on the evidence before it, the Circuit Court correctly held that the exception or

"claw-back" provision to the business pursuits exclusion is not applicable:

Plaintiff argues that the contents stored inside the barn were business property solely owned by the Plaintiff such that paragraph 2. of the business pursuits exclusion operates to bring the structure back under coverage. There is, however, a vast amount of evidence in the record reflecting that the contents stored in the barn for which Erie issued payment were determined by Erie to be personal property and were also claimed by the Plaintiff to be personal property.

Most notably, Erie issued payment under the policy's personal property coverage for approximately 120 items stored in the main barn area which the Plaintiff claimed were damaged/destroyed as a result of the fire. Copies of the checks issued by Erie clearly demonstrate that payment was made pursuant to a "personal property settlement." Likewise, the claim file contains multiple references to the fact that the Plaintiff specifically asserted that the property damaged in the barn fire was personal property, not business property. Plaintiff further claimed that he purchased the contents with personal funds and that the contents were not purchased by any business. As such, this Court **FINDS** that paragraph 2 of the business exclusion (claw back provision) does not apply.

It merits mentioning that Mr. Scafella's argument is further a red herring because it is contingent upon his erroneous contention that the original barn area was a separate structure from the later added addition of the milkhouse. As discussed, *supra*, the milkhouse and original barn area are part of the same integrated structure – much the same as a later added sunroom is part of the original house. As such, the barn was not "used to *store* "business" property" because it was also being used to operate Olivia's, a fully operational store with customers. The fact that the electrical fire ignited in one area of the structure and not the area where Olivia's was located has no impact on the operation of the exclusion because the structure was being used "in whole or in part for 'business' purposes." A.R. 0115-16. For this additional reason, the exception to the business pursuits exclusion is not applicable.

Finally, Mr. Scafella did not properly raise or preserve any argument of efficient proximate cause. Neither his complaint nor his summary judgment briefing contains any efficient proximate cause argument, and it is unclear why Mr. Scafella has raised it for the first time in his opening brief by burying it in the section concerning the nature of the contents claim. The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in *Haynes v. Antero Resources Corporation*, No. 15-1203, 2016 WL 6542734, at *3 (W. Va. Oct. 28, 2016) made it clear a party has an obligation to preserve all of its claims:

"[a] skeletal 'argument', really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim.... Judges are not like pigs hunting for truffles buried in briefs." United States v. Dunkel, 927 F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir. 1991); accord Teague, 35 F.3d at 985 n.5; State v. Honaker, 195 W. Va. 51, 56 n.4, 454 S.E.2d 96, 101 n.4 (1444).

Again, in *Haynes*, this Court made it clear that the rule that judges are not pigs hunting for truffles applies equally to issues not properly raised or decided by the Circuit Court:

With regard to West Virginia Code § 55-2-1, *et seq.*, although petitioner mentions it in his opening brief to this Court and in his reply to Antero's response, he fails to cite to the record on appeal when or how he raised this issue before the circuit court. Further, neither the November 18, 2015, order, nor the March 24, 2015, order mention this statute. As we stated previously, we are not pigs hunting for truffles.

Id. The Circuit Court was not required to raise, develop, and respond to a proximate efficient cause argument that was never articulated by Mr. Scafella in briefing or argument on summary judgment.

Moreover, the case relied upon by Mr. Scafella in support of his argument, *Murray v.* State Farm, 203 W. Va. 477, 509 S.E.2d 1 (1998), is easily distinguishable from the facts of this case. At issue in *Murray* was the application of an earth movement exclusion, not a business pursuits exclusion. The earth movement exclusion at issue was determined by the *Murray* Court to be ambiguous, whereas herein the business pursuits exclusion is not ambiguous. *Murray*, 203 W. Va. at 485, 509 S.E.2d at 9. It was only in the face of what the *Murray* Court determined was an ambiguous exclusion, that it looked to the proximate efficient cause:

> The majority of courts that have considered earth movement exclusions have found them to be ambiguous. Having found the clause to be ambiguous, courts have used two methods of policy construction to examine whether coverage exists or is excluded under the earth movement exclusion.

First, courts have applied two doctrines of construction, *ejusdem* generis and noscitur a sociis, to limit the application of the earth movement exclusion to natural, catastrophic events, rather than man-made events.

Second, courts have examined the particular causes of the loss presented by the policyholder, and although an excluded event (such as earth movement) may have been a concurring or contributing cause of a loss, courts have allowed policyholders to recover under an insurance policy if the proximate cause of the loss was an event insured by the policy.

Id. Notably, the Murray Court held that the proximate efficient cause approach is to be used when there is a "combination of covered and specifically excluded risks...." Murray, 203 W.
 Va. at 489, 509 S.E.2d at 13.

Here the Circuit Court was addressing the operation of a business pursuits exclusion under the "Other Structures Coverage" which is not ambiguous. Likewise, the business pursuits exclusion operates to preclude coverage for a structure when it is "used in whole or in part" for a business. The earth movement exclusion in *Murray* lacked similar language. Finally, there is no requirement that the business activities actually cause the loss for the exclusion to be operable.

2. The waiver doctrine does not operate to provide coverage for the barn structure.

The word waiver appears nowhere in Count I of Mr. Scafella's Complaint. To the

contrary, Mr. Scafella alleged that the Policy clearly provided coverage, or alternatively was ambiguous, or alternatively, that he had a "reasonable expectation" of coverage. A.R. 0007-0010. Mr. Scafella's waiver argument was a last-ditch effort raised for the first time on summary judgment to try and create genuine issues of material fact in a claim wherein it is clear that no coverage exists under the Policy. The Circuit Court saw through Ms. Scafella's antics and held that Mr. Scafella had failed to establish waiver. This Court should likewise give no credence to Mr. Scafella's eleventh hour argument as it is unsupported by the evidence on the record and the available case law.

West Virginia case law on the waiver doctrine vis a vi insurance claims is well established. There is no need for this Court to delve into Mr. Scafella's comparisons of the waiver doctrine to other unrelated and irrelevant insurance principles because West Virginia law is settled on this issue. "To effect a waiver, there must be evidence which demonstrates that a party has **intentionally** relinquished a known right." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *Potesta v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 202 W. Va. 308, 504 S.E.2d 135 (1998) (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, in part, *Ara v. Erie Ins. Co.*, 182 W. Va. 266. 387 S.E.2d 320 (1989)) (emphasis added). "This intentional relinquishment, or waiver, may be expressed or implied . . . However, where the alleged waiver is implied, there must be **clear and convincing evidence** of the party's intent to relinquish the known right." *Potesta*, 202 W. Va. at 315, 504 S.E.2d at 142. The burden of proving waiver is on the party claiming the "benefit of such waiver. and is never presumed." *Id.* at 315, 142, quoting *Hoffman v. Wheeling Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 133 W.Va. 694, 715, 57 S.E. 2d 725, 735 (1950). "The doctrine of waiver focuses on the conduct of the party against whom waiver is sought and requires that party to have intentionally relinquished a known right." *Id.* at 316, 143.

Crucially, "the principle[] of waiver [. . . is] inoperable to extend insurance coverage beyond the terms of an insurance contract." *Potesta*, 202 W. Va. at 320, 504 S.E.2d 147. The reason for this rule as explained by the Court in *Potesta* is as follows:

The reasons usually addressed in support of the general rule that waiver and estoppel cannot extend coverage of an insurance policy are that a court cannot create a new contract for the parties, that an insurer should not be required to pay a loss for which it charged no premium, and that a risk should not be imposed upon an insurer which it might have denied. Id., citing Turner Liquidating Co. v. St. Paul Surplus Lines Ins., 93 Ohio App.3d 292, 299, 638 N.E.2d 174, 179 (1994).

The only exceptions to this general rule are for the doctrine of estoppel; no such exceptions apply to the waiver doctrine.³ *Potesta*, 202 W. Va. at 322–23, 504 S.E.2d at 149–50. Therefore, "while implied waiver may be employed to prohibit an insurer, who has previously denied coverage on specific ground(s), from subsequently asserting a technical ground for declination of coverage, implied waiver may not be utilized to prohibit the insurer's subsequent denial based on the nonexistence of coverage." *Id.; see also Westfield Ins. Co. v. Davis*, 232 F. Supp. 3d 918, 928 (S.D.W. Va. 2017) (concluding that since the insurer denied coverage based on the "nonexistence of coverage," the doctrine of implied waiver is inapplicable because it cannot extend coverage beyond the terms of the insurance contract and the insurer therefore did not waive its right to deny coverage); *Dow v. Liberty Ins. Co.*, No. CV 3:19-0486, 2021 WL 5411949, at *6 (S.D.W. Va. Nov. 18, 2021) (concluding that insurer's belated reliance on the "water control device or structure" exclusion was based on the non-existence of coverage, not based on the non-existence of coverage, not based on the non-existence of coverage, not based on the non-existence of coverage.

³ Potesta was before the Supreme Court on certified questions. In the underlying action, the insurer denied coverage based upon an exclusion regarding property damage to "property [the insured] own[ed], rent[ed] or occup[ied], and later, in subsequent litigation, relied upon an exclusion concerning "negligent work." The Supreme Court established, among others, the following new syllabus points:

^{5.} Generally, the principles of waiver and estoppel are inoperable to extend insurance coverage beyond the terms of an insurance contract.

^{6.} While implied waiver may be employed to prohibit an insurer, who has previously denied coverage on specific ground(s), from subsequently asserting a technical ground for declination of coverages, implied waiver may not be utilized to prohibit the insurer's subsequent denial based on the nonexistence of coverage.

Herein, Mr. Scafella is limited to his argument of waiver because he failed to raise any argument of coverage through estoppel in his Complaint, briefing at the Circuit Court level, or in his Petitioner's brief. As such, he is precluded from raising such an argument at this late stage. *Addair v. Bryant*, 168 W. Va. 306, 320, 284 S.E.2d 374, 383 (1981) ("Assignments of error that are not argued in briefs on appeal may be deemed by this Court to be waived."); *Shaffer v. Acme Limestone Co., Inc.*, 206 W.Va. 333, 349 n.20, 524 S.E.2d 688, 704 n.20 (1999)) ("Our general rule is that nonjurisdictional questions ... raised for the first time on appeal, will not be considered."); *Whitlow v. Board of Education*, 190 W.Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993) ("Our general rule in this regard is that, when non-jurisdictional questions have not been decided at the trial court level and are then first raised before this Court, they will not be considered on appeal.")

The cases relied upon by Mr. Scafella to support his waiver argument, *McKinney*⁴ (1959) and *Kimball Ice*⁵ (1926), both pre-date the Supreme Court's holding in *Potesta* which clearly established the standard under West Virginia law for proving waiver, as distinguished from estoppel. Both cases involved vacant buildings destroyed by fire and undisputed evidence that the issuing agent admittedly knew the buildings were vacant when the policy was issued. The carrier in both cases subsequently denied coverage based upon the vacancy exclusion of which the insured was previously unaware.

The Supreme Court has previously distinguished *McKinney* and *Kimball Ice* under similar circumstances. In *Ashraf v. State Auto Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, No. 18-0382, 2019 WL 2167960, at *3 (W. Va. May 20, 2019), the Supreme Court was asked to consider whether State Auto had waived its right to rely on a policy provision that reduced coverage on a building by

⁴ McKinney v. Providence Washington Ins. Co., 144 W. Va. 559, 109 S.E.2d 480 (1959).

⁵ Kimball Ice Co. v. Springfield Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 100 W. Va. 728, 132 S.E. 714 (1926).

fifteen percent because the building was vacant at the time of a fire that destroyed the building in 2012. The Petitioner in *Ashraf* argued that he had a prior vandalism claim on the same building in 2009 during which State Auto was placed on notice that the building was vacant, but continued to reissue the policy of insurance, thereby waiving its right to rely on the vacancy provision. The Supreme Court disagreed, noting that the insured had a duty to read the 2009 denial letter referencing the policy provisions upon which the carrier had relied to deny the prior loss:

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